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April 18, 2001

BY FAX & FIRST CLASS MAIL

Mayor Herman T. Costello
338 East Union Street
Burlington, NJ 08016

Advisory Opinion No. 03-2001

Dear Mayor Costello:

Your request for an Advisory Opinion has been considered by the Commission, and the
Commission has directed me to issue this response. You have asked whether or not you may use
your campaign funds to make and purchase a video history of the City of Burlington, for which
municipality you currently serve as mayor.  A family member of yours, your son, Mark del Costello,
is undertaking the production of the video and will receive payment for his work on the video.

Submitted Facts

In a letter Mr. del Costello submitted in support of this request, he writes that he is producing a
promotional and historical video of the City of Burlington’s history, revitalization, and future
growth.  He states that he is an instructor at the Art Institute of Philadelphia, and he has underwritten
the production costs to date.  He states that although the production of the video could cost up to
approximately $10,000 if produced by another company, the cost he anticipates for the video will be
approximately $2,000.  He writes that you wish to use the remaining funds in your candidate
committee account to pay that cost.

By letter received April 9, 2001, you provided the Commission with the following additional
information:

1. Mr. del Costello is your son, and you have no legal or financial responsibility for him.  Mr. del
Costello lives independently of you, and is self-supporting.

2. You have no intention to seek reelection, and wish to close your campaign account, which has a
balance of $2,248.

3. The Art Institute of Philadelphia will be the recipient of your campaign committee funds.  Among
the individuals listed in your letter as being recipients of payments from the Art Institute of
Philadelphia is your son, Mr. del Costello.
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4. You represent that you have no financial interest in any person or entity that is listed as a payee.
5. The video will become the property of the City of Burlington.

The Commission notes that the most recent campaign report filed on your behalf was a
postelection quarterly report for your 1999 general election candidacy for mayor of the City of
Burlington, received on January 9, 2001, which reported an unexpended balance in your candidate
committee account of $2,248.02 as of December 31, 2000.

Question Presented

Are the production costs of a video about the history of a municipality and purchase of that video
for the municipality a permissible use of an officeholder’s campaign contributions pursuant to
N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2 and applicable Commission regulations, notwithstanding that one of the
recipients of those funds includes a family member of the officeholder?

Commission Response

The Commission finds that the use of a municipal officeholder’s campaign funds (that is
contributions received by the officeholder’s candidate committee) to produce and purchase a
historical video of the type described in this request is a permissible officeholding expense
contemplated under N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2.  Further, the circumstance that a family member of the
officeholder will be a recipient of those funds for services provided by that family member in
connection with the production of the video does not prohibit the expenditure as personal use of
those funds by that officeholder where that family member is financially independent of the
officeholder, the officeholder has no legal or financial obligation for that family member’s support,
and the amount of payment for the provided services is reasonable and consistent with fair market
value for those services.

An officeholder is permitted by N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2a (hereafter, Section 11.2a) to use campaign
funds to make a contribution to certain charitable and nonprofit organizations exempt from taxation
under the Internal Revenue Code. The Commission is satisfied that the use of campaign funds by a
municipal mayor to produce and purchase a video of the type described in this request for the
municipality that the mayor is elected to serve is a permissible use of campaign funds. Section
11.2a(2) permits campaign funds to be contributed to a non-profit organization exempt from taxation
under Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. A municipal government is a tax-exempt entity.
Under the facts submitted, the video is intended to become the property of the municipality, and
therefore, assuming the video is accepted by the municipality, payment for the costs of its production
and for the purchase of the video for the municipality constitutes a contribution by the mayor’s
candidate committee to a nonprofit entity, that is the City of Burlington.

Also, an officeholder such as a mayor may use campaign funds for payment of “ordinary and
necessary expenses of holding public office”; see specifically Section 11.2a(6).  Even assuming for
some reason the municipal government determines ultimately not to accept ownership of the video,
the costs of the production and purchase of the municipal video is sufficiently related to the mayor’s
officeholding duties to permit the expenditure from his campaign funds as an “ordinary and
necessary” officeholding expense within the meaning of Section 11.2a and the Commission
regulations.  The Commission’s regulations define “ordinary and necessary expense of holding
public office” as “…any expense that reasonably promotes or carries out the responsibilities of a
person holding public elective office …(with an exception for furnishing, staffing or operating an
office that is not pertinent here)” see N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7, Ordinary and necessary officeholding
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expenses.   Included in the examples of permissible expenditures listed in the rule are the costs of
communications to constituents such as the production or circulation of a municipal newsletter; see
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7(e)1i.  The video that is the subject of this request appears to the Commission to
come within the types of constituent communication contemplated by the regulation, and is similar
to the expenditure from candidate funds approved by the Commission in Advisory Opinion 06-1996
for the production and distribution of the Annual Report of a county government.

Campaign funds may not be used for “...those items or services which may reasonably be
considered to be for the personal use of the candidate, any person associated with the candidate
…(and other uses not pertinent to this request);” Section 11.2(a).  In administering this restriction,
the Commission must exercise care that campaign funds are not expended to enrich a candidate or
his dependent family members.   Under the facts as presented in this inquiry, Mr. del Costello is a
family member, but no longer financially dependent on his father, and you have represented you no
longer bear any legal or financial obligation for your son.  Further, the contemplated expenditure of
approximately $2,000 is a figure, according to Mr. del Costello, that is substantially less than would
be required if the video were being made by another company, suggesting to the Commission that
the $2,000 cost is at or less than the fair market value of employing another filmmaker to produce
the video.  That figure does not appear to the Commission to be unreasonable.  According to your
letter, the Art Institute of Philadelphia will be the payee, and therefore it is that institution that will
assume responsibility for distribution of the proceeds of the expenditure to those persons employed
to produce the video, including Mr. del Costello, an instructor at that institution.  For these reasons,
the Commission concludes that the expenditure described by the facts in this request is in conformity
with the permissible use restrictions of Section 11.2.

Thank you for submitting this request, and for your interest in the work of the Commission.

Very truly yours,

GREGORY E. NAGY
Legal Director
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